DECENTRALIZED GOVERNANCE IN LEBANON: A STRATEGIC FRAMEWORK FOR MUNICIPAL EMPOWERMENT AND DEVELOPMENT



DECENTRALIZATION IS A CRUCIAL REFORM FOR LEBANON, AIMING TO IMPROVE GOVERNANCE, REDUCE REGIONAL DISPARITIES, AND FOSTER NATIONAL UNITY. WHILE FEARS PERSIST THAT DECENTRALIZATION COULD LEAD TO FEDERALISM OR DIVISION, THIS REFORM ALIGNS WITH LEBANON'S CONSTITUTIONAL FRAMEWORK AND THE TAIF AGREEMENT. IT IS NOT ABOUT FRAGMENTATION BUT

ABOUT STRENGTHENING STATE EFFICIENCY AND EMPOWERING CITIZENS.

DR ANTOINE J. BURKUSH, PHD

Decentralized Governance in Lebanon a Strategic Framework for Municipal Empowerment and Development

Decentralization is a crucial reform for Lebanon, aiming to improve governance, reduce regional disparities, and foster national unity. While fears persist that decentralization could lead to federalism or division, this reform aligns with Lebanon's constitutional framework and the Taif Agreement. It is not about fragmentation but about strengthening state efficiency and empowering citizens.

Note of Acknowledgment

This document has been developed with the assistance of ChatGPT, an Al language model designed to support the creation of content and strategic planning. ChatGPT has contributed to the formulation and drafting of various initiatives and strategies outlined within this document. While the content has been reviewed and refined by the human author, the Al model provided valuable input and suggestions throughout the process.

We acknowledge the use of AI technology in aiding the development of these initiatives, ensuring a comprehensive and well-structured approach to each proposed strategy.

Contents

Decentralized Governance in Lebanon a Strategic Framework for Municipal Empowerment and Development	2
Executive Summary: Decentralization in Lebanon	
Introduction	
Key Benefits of Decentralization	14
Decentralization Is Not Federalism	14
Challenges and Solutions	15
Phased Plan of Action	15
Promotional and Public Awareness Campaign	16
Concluding Remarks	16
Recommendations	16
The executive summary in Arabic:	17
Making the Case for Decentralization: Why It Is Not Federalism	21
Decentralization: Strengthening, Not Dividing the State	21
What Is Decentralization?	21
How Is It Different from Federalism?	21
2. Decentralization Is in Line with National Unity	22
Avoids Political Fragmentation	22
Strengthens National Identity	22
Reduces Sectarian Tensions	22
3. Decentralization Does Not Threaten the Taif Agreement	22
Decentralization Aligns with the Taif Agreement	22
It Maintains the National Framework	23
4. Decentralization Addresses Real Needs	23
Better Governance	23
Economic Equity	23
Transparency and Accountability	23
5. Learning from International Examples	24
Lebanon	24
Jordan	24

	Tunisia	24
(6. Arguments Against the Fear of Separation	25
	Sectarian Balance Is Not Threatened	25
	Strengthens the State, Weakens Corruption	25
	Maintains National Oversight	25
	7. A Step Toward a Modern, Efficient Lebanon	25
	omprehensive plan for public sector decentralization in Lebanon, with deeper	27
	1. Goals and Objectives of Decentralization	
	Empower Local Governments	27
	Improve Service Delivery	27
	Enhance Accountability	27
	Promote Economic Development	27
	Preserve Social Cohesion	28
4	2. Structural Framework	28
	Legal Reforms	28
	Administrative Layers	28
	Financial Autonomy	28
	Capacity Building	29
,	3. Technology Integration	29
4	4. Citizen Participation	29
ļ	5. National Coordination	30
(Obstacles to Decentralization in Lebanon	30
	1. Political Resistance	30
	2. Weak Local Governance	30
	3. Financial Challenges	31
	4. Inequalities Between Regions	31
	5. Sectarianism	31
	6. Lack of Legal Framework	31
	7. Corruption	31
	Solutions to Overcome Obstacles	31

Building Political Will	31
2. Strengthening Local Governance	32
3. Ensuring Financial Viability	32
4. Promoting Equity Between Regions	32
5. Addressing Sectarian Concerns	32
6. Enacting Legal Reforms	32
7. Fighting Corruption	33
Expected Benefits	33
Phased Plan of Action for Decentralization in Lebanon	34
Phase 1: Preparatory Phase (Years 1–2)	34
Political and Legal Foundations	34
2. Institutional Setup	34
3. Capacity Assessment	35
4. Awareness and Education	35
Phase 2: Pilot Implementation Phase (Years 3–5)	35
1. Pilot Projects	35
2. Strengthening Local Governance	35
3. Financial Decentralization	36
4. Citizen Engagement	36
5. Monitoring and Evaluation	36
Phase 3: Scaling Up Phase (Years 6–8)	36
1. Gradual Rollout	36
2. Enhancing Financial Autonomy	37
3. Institutional Strengthening	37
4. Technology Integration	37
5. National Coordination	37
Phase 4: Full Implementation and Optimization Phase (Years 9–10)	37
1. Full Decentralization	38
2. Continuous Monitoring and Evaluation	38
4. Strengthening Equity	38
5. Institutionalizing Citizen Participation	38

	Key Milestones and Indicators	39
	Expected Long-Term Impacts	39
Pr	omotional and Public Awareness Campaigns for Decentralization in Lebanon	41
	Below is a comprehensive plan for promotional and awareness efforts	41
	Campaign Objectives	41
	Target Audiences	41
	Key Messages	42
	Campaign Strategies	42
	Public Awareness Campaign	42
	2. Educational Campaign	43
	3. Grassroots Mobilization	43
	4. Pilot Region Promotion	43
	5. Transparency Campaign	44
	Campaign Timeline	44
	Phase 1: Launch (First 6 Months)	44
	Phase 2: Education and Mobilization (6–18 Months)	44
	Phase 3: Sustained Awareness (Years 2–5)	45
	Tools and Resources	45
	Performance Indicators	45
	Expected Outcomes	46
Pr	oposed Decentralization Policy for Lebanon	51
	Introduction	51
	Policy Objectives	51
	Key Components of the Decentralization Policy	51
	Legal and Institutional Framework	51
	Fiscal Autonomy and Resource Allocation	52
	Strengthening Capacity at Local Levels	52
	4. Local Democracy and Citizen Participation	52
	5. Strengthening Oversight and Accountability	53
	Implementation Phases	53
	Phase 1: Preparation and Legal Reform (Year 1–2)	53

	Phase 2: Institutional Development and Capacity Building (Year 2–4)	. 54
	Phase 3: Full-Scale Implementation (Year 4–7)	. 54
	Phase 4: Long-Term Sustainability (Year 7–10)	. 54
	Challenges and Solutions	. 55
	Political Resistance and Misconceptions	. 55
	2. Capacity Constraints in Local Governments	. 55
	3. Corruption and Mismanagement	. 55
	Conclusion	. 55
	kample of a Municipality under a Decentralized System: The Municipality of Joun, A nouf in Lebanon	
	Key Features of Joun Municipality under Decentralization	. 56
	Local Governance and Decision-Making Power	. 56
	2. Fiscal Autonomy and Local Budget	. 56
	Public Services and Infrastructure	. 57
	4. Local Economic Development	. 57
	5. Public Participation and Accountability	. 57
	6. Relationship with Central Government	. 57
	Advantages of Decentralization in Joun	. 58
	Conclusion	. 58
Mı	unicipality Organizational Structure under a Decentralized System in Lebanon	. 59
	Elected Local Council (Municipal Council)	. 59
	Role and Responsibilities:	. 59
	Executive Administration and Key Departments	. 60
	Key Departments:	. 60
	3. Support and Oversight Bodies	. 63
	1. Internal Audit Committee:	. 63
	2. Citizen Advisory Board:	. 63
	3. Municipal Ombudsman:	. 63
	4. Relationship with Central Government	. 63
	5. Citizen Participation and Accountability	. 64
	Conclusion	. 64

Good	governance under a decentralized local government system	65
1. C	Clear Legal and Institutional Framework	65
2. T	ransparency and Accountability Mechanisms	65
•	Public Financial Management:	65
•	Public Access to Information:	65
•	Anti-Corruption Measures:	65
3. C	Citizen Engagement and Participation	66
4. C	Capacity Building for Local Authorities	66
•	Training and Development:	66
•	Technical Assistance:	66
•	Human Resource Development:	66
5. F	inancial Autonomy and Sustainability	67
•	Revenue Generation:	67
•	Equitable Resource Distribution:	67
•	Budget Oversight:	67
6. F	Performance Monitoring and Evaluation	67
•	Key Performance Indicators (KPIs):	67
•	Regular Assessments:	67
•	Incentives for Good Performance:	67
7. Ir	ntergovernmental Coordination	67
•	Collaborative Frameworks:	67
•	Capacity Sharing:	68
•	Crisis Management:	68
8. F	Promoting Inclusiveness and Equity	68
•	Focus on Marginalized Communities:	68
•	Gender Equality:	68
•	Balanced Development:	68
9. A	doption of Technology and E-Governance	68
•	Digital Platforms:	68
•	Data-Driven Decision-Making:	68
•	Transparency Tools:	68

10. Fostering a Culture of Good Governance	69
Ethical Leadership:	69
Citizen Education:	69
Collaborative Culture:	69
Conclusion	69
Plan for a Performance Evaluation System in Lebanon's Public Sector	70
I. Objectives of the Performance Evaluation System	70
II. Key Components of the Performance Evaluation System	70
Performance Standards and Indicators	70
2. Evaluation Framework	71
3. Performance Review Cycle	71
4. Feedback Mechanism	71
5. Citizen Input	71
6. Technology Integration	71
7. Rewards and Corrective Action	71
III. Steps for Implementing the System	72
Step 1: Establish a Legal and Institutional Framework	72
Step 2: Define Roles and Responsibilities	72
Step 3: Develop KPIs and Benchmarks	72
Step 4: Capacity Building	73
Step 5: Pilot the System	73
Step 6: Roll Out the System Nationwide	73
Step 7: Monitor, Evaluate, and Adapt	73
IV. Obstacles and Solutions	73
Obstacle 1: Resistance to Change	73
Obstacle 2: Lack of Resources	74
Obstacle 3: Skill Gaps	74
Obstacle 4: Political Interference	74
Obstacle 5: Lack of Citizen Trust	74
V. Benefits of the Performance Evaluation System	74
1. Improved Public Service Delivery:	74

4	2. Increased Accountability:	. 74
•	Public sector employees and institutions are held accountable for achieving	
ı	results.	. 74
4	4. Motivated Workforce:	. 74
ļ	5. Stronger Citizen Trust:	. 75
VI.	. Conclusion	. 75
Deve	elopment of a Comprehensive KPI System for Lebanon's Public Sector	. 76
1. (Objectives of the KPI System	. 76
II.	Key Components of the KPI System	. 76
	1. KPI Framework	. 76
4	2. Categories of KPIs	. 77
4	3. Data Collection Mechanisms	. 77
4	4. Reporting Structure	. 77
III.	Steps to Develop and Implement the KPI System	. 78
,	Step 1: Establish Legal and Institutional Framework	. 78
,	Step 2: Define Sector-Specific KPIs	. 78
,	Step 3: Stakeholder Engagement	. 78
,	Step 4: Develop Data Collection and Reporting Systems	. 78
,	Step 5: Capacity Building	. 78
;	Step 6: Pilot Testing	. 79
,	Step 7: Nationwide Implementation	. 79
;	Step 8: Monitoring and Evaluation	. 79
IV.	. Challenges and Solutions	. 79
	Challenge 1: Resistance to Change	. 79
(Challenge 2: Lack of Capacity	. 79
(Challenge 3: Data Availability	. 79
(Challenge 4: Political Interference	. 80
(Challenge 5: Funding Constraints	. 80
V.	Expected Benefits	. 80
	1. Enhanced Accountability:	. 80
4	2. Improved Efficiency:	. 80

	3.	Data-Driven Governance:	80
	4.	Better Service Delivery:	80
	5.	Increased Public Trust:	80
١	/I. Ex	ample KPIs for Key Sectors	80
	Hea	llthcare	80
	Edu	cation	81
	Mur	nicipal Services	81
	Trar	nsportation	81
	Ene	rgy	81
١	/II. Co	onclusion	81
	•	nensive Plan for Recruitment and Job Descriptions in Lebanon's Public Se	
		ortance of Reforming Public Sector Recruitment and Job Descriptions	
I		nciples of Recruitment in Lebanon's Public Sector	
	1.	Merit-Based Selection:	
	2.	Inclusivity:	
	3.	Transparency:	
	4.	Alignment with National Goals:	
	5.	Continuous Improvement:	
I		mprehensive Recruitment Process	
		Vorkforce Planning	
		entralized Recruitment Body	
		tandardized Recruitment Procedures	
		ecruitment for Specialized Roles	
	5. O	Inboarding and Orientation	85
I	V. De	tailed Job Descriptions	85
	1. E	xecutive-Level Positions	85
	2. N	1id-Level Management	86
	3. L	ocal Government Positions	86
	4. O	perational Staff	87
	5 A	dministrative Support	87

V. Ca	reer Development and Retention Strategies	87
1.	Continuous Training:	87
2.	Performance-Based Promotions:	87
3.	Succession Planning:	88
4.	Incentives and Benefits:	88
VI. Mo	onitoring and Evaluation	88
1.	Key Metrics for Recruitment:	88
2.	Auditing Mechanisms:	88
3.	Citizen Feedback:	88
VII. C	hallenges and Solutions	88
Cha	allenge 1: Political Interference	88
Cha	allenge 2: Skills Gap	88
Cha	allenge 3: Corruption	89
Cha	allenge 4: Retention Issues	89
VIII. C	Conclusion	89
Conclud	ling Remarks	90
Reco	mmendations	90
1. E	Build Political and Public Consensus	90
2. E	Enact a Comprehensive Decentralization Law	91
3. 5	Strengthen Local Government Capacities	91
4. E	Ensure Financial Decentralization	91
5. I	mplement Pilot Projects	91
6. E	Establish Oversight and Accountability Mechanisms	91
7. A	Align with National Development Goals	92
8. L	earn from International Best Practices	92
9. E	Encourage Citizen Participation	92
10.	Commit to Long-Term Reform	92
Final	Thought	92
END OF	THE DOCUMENT	93

Executive Summary: Decentralization in Lebanon

Introduction

Decentralization is a crucial reform for Lebanon, aiming to improve governance, reduce regional disparities, and foster national unity. While fears persist that decentralization could lead to federalism or division, this reform aligns with Lebanon's constitutional framework and the Taif Agreement. It is not about fragmentation but about strengthening state efficiency and empowering citizens.

Key Benefits of Decentralization

- 1. Efficient Governance: Brings decision-making closer to communities, improving public services and reducing bureaucratic delays.
- 2. Equitable Development: Reduces regional disparities by allowing underdeveloped areas to access resources and manage local priorities.
- 3. Accountability and Transparency: Creates a direct link between citizens and local governments, enabling better oversight and reducing corruption.
- 4. Economic Growth: Empowers regions to develop economically, attract investments, and retain revenues for local development.
- 5. National Unity: Strengthens state-citizen relationships and mitigates sectarian competition by addressing local needs directly.

Decentralization Is Not Federalism

- Decentralization operates within a unitary state framework, with local governments accountable to the central government.
- Federalism involves autonomous regional governments, often with separate constitutions and legislative powers. Decentralization maintains Lebanon's territorial integrity and national oversight.
- Successful examples in countries like Lebanon, Jordan, and Tunisia show that decentralization can empower local authorities without threatening national unity.

Challenges and Solutions

- 1. Misconceptions about Federalism:
- Solution: National campaigns to clarify decentralization's purpose and benefits.

2. Political Resistance:

• Solution: Engage political leaders through dialogue, emphasizing decentralization's alignment with the Taif Agreement.

3. Weak Municipal Capacities:

• Solution: Capacity-building programs and technical support for municipalities.

4. Corruption and Mismanagement Risks:

• Solution: Introduce robust oversight mechanisms and e-governance tools.

5. Regional Disparities:

• Solution: Establish equalization funds to ensure equitable resource distribution.

Phased Plan of Action

- 1. Phase 1: Legislative Reforms (Year 1–2)
- Enact a comprehensive decentralization law defining powers, resources, and responsibilities of local governments.

2. Phase 2: Institutional Development (Year 2–3)

• Train municipal officials, establish regulatory bodies, and create frameworks for financial autonomy.

3. Phase 3: Pilot Implementation (Year 3–5)

• Test decentralization in select regions, measure impact, and address challenges.

4. Phase 4: Full-Scale Implementation (Year 5–10)

• Roll out nationwide, supported by oversight mechanisms and continuous evaluation.

Promotional and Public Awareness Campaign

A robust promotional campaign is critical for building trust, addressing misconceptions, and mobilizing public support:

1. Public Awareness Campaigns:

• National media campaigns, social media outreach, and educational programs to explain decentralization's benefits.

2. Grassroots Engagement:

• Town halls, community forums, and partnerships with civil society organizations to involve citizens.

3. Highlighting Success Stories:

• Showcase pilot region successes through case studies and testimonials to demonstrate tangible benefits.

4. E-Governance Platforms:

• Digital tools for transparency, citizen feedback, and tracking decentralization progress.

Concluding Remarks

Decentralization is a transformative reform that fulfills the Taif Agreement's promise of administrative modernization. It addresses Lebanon's governance inefficiencies, promotes economic equity, and fosters accountability while strengthening national unity. By empowering citizens and regions, decentralization can restore trust in government and pave the way for a prosperous future.

Recommendations

- 1. Launch a comprehensive decentralization law aligned with Lebanon's national framework.
 - 2. Build political consensus and address misconceptions about federalism.
- 3. Empower municipalities through training, technical support, and financial autonomy.

- 4. Implement robust oversight mechanisms to ensure transparency and prevent mismanagement.
- 5. Promote public awareness and engage citizens in the decentralization process.

Decentralization is not a step toward division—it is a step toward modernization, equity, and unity for a stronger Lebanon

The executive summary in Arabic:

الملخص التنفيذي: اللامركزية في لبنان

المقدمة

تشكل اللامركزية إصلاحًا ضروريًا في لبنان يهدف إلى تحسين الحوكمة، وتقليص الفوارق الإقليمية، وتعزيز الوحدة الوطنية. وعلى الرغم من المخاوف من أن اللامركزية قد تؤدي إلى الفيدرالية أو التقسيم، فإن هذا الإصلاح يتماشى مع الإطار الدستوري للبنان واتفاق الطائف. إنها ليست دعوة للتجزئة، بل وسيلة لتعزيز كفاءة الدولة وتمكين المواطنين.

الفوائد الرئيسية للامركزية

- 1. حوكمة فعالة: تقرب عملية صنع القرار من المجتمعات، مما يحسن الخدمات العامة ويقلل التأخير البيروقراطي.
 - 2. تنمية متوازنة: تقلل الفوارق الإقليمية من خلال السماح للمناطق الأقل تطورًا بالوصول الى الموارد وإدارة أولوياتها المحلية.
- 3. المساءلة والشفافية: تعزز الارتباط المباشر بين المواطنين والحكومات المحلية، مما يتيح رقابة أفضل ويقلل الفساد.
 - 4. النمو الاقتصادي: تمكن المناطق من التطور اقتصاديًا وجذب الاستثمارات والاحتفاظ بالايرادات للتنمية المحلية.

5. الوحدة الوطنية: تقوي العلاقة بين الدولة والمواطنين وتخفف من المنافسة الطائفية من خلال تلبية الاحتياجات المحلية مباشرة.

اللامركزية ليست فيدرالية

- تعمل اللامركزية ضمن إطار دولة موحدة، حيث تظل الحكومات المحلية مسؤولة أمام الحكومة المركزية.
- الفيدرالية تتضمن حكومات إقليمية تتمتع بالحكم الذاتي، غالبًا بدساتير وسلطات تشريعية مستقلة. بينما تحافظ اللامركزية على سيادة لبنان وسلامته الإقليمية.
- تُظهر الأمثلة الناجحة في دول مثل فرنسا، الأردن، وتونس أن اللامركزية يمكن أن تمكّن السلطات المحلية دون تهديد الوحدة الوطنية.

التحديات والحلول

- .1 سوء الفهم حول الفيدرالية:
- الحل: حملات وطنية لتوضيح هدف وفوائد اللامركزية.
 - .2 المقاومة السياسية:
- الحل: إشراك القادة السياسيين في حوار يؤكد التزام اللامركزية باتفاق الطائف.
 - 3. ضعف قدرات البلديات:
 - الحل: برامج بناء القدرات والدعم الفني للبلديات.
 - 4. مخاطر الفساد وسوء الإدارة:
 - الحل: إدخال آليات رقابة قوية وأدوات للحكومة الإلكترونية.
 - .5 التفاوتات الإقليمية:
 - · الحل: إنشاء صناديق مساواة لضمان توزيع عادل للموارد.

الخطة المرحلية

- .1 المرحلة الأولى: الإصلاحات التشريعية (السنة 1-2)
- سن قانون شامل للامركزية يحدد الصلاحيات والموارد والمسؤوليات للحكومات المحلية.

- .2 المرحلة الثانية: تطوير المؤسسات (السنة 2-3)
- تدريب المسؤولين المحليين، إنشاء هيئات تنظيمية، ووضع أطر للاستقلال المالي.
 - 3. المرحلة الثالثة: التنفيذ التجريبي (السنة 3-5)
 - اختبار اللامركزية في مناطق مختارة، قياس الأثر، ومعالجة التحديات.
 - 4. المرحلة الرابعة: التنفيذ الشامل (السنة 5–10)
 - التوسع على المستوى الوطنى مدعومًا بآليات الرقابة والتقييم المستمر.

حملات الترويج والتوعية العامة

تعد الحملة الترويجية الفعالة ضرورية لبناء الثقة، معالجة سوء الفهم، وحشد الدعم الشعبى:

- .1 حملات التوعية العامة:
- حملات إعلامية وطنية، منصات وسائل التواصل الاجتماعي، وبرامج تعليمية لشرح فوائد اللامركزية.
 - .2 التعبئة الشعبية:
 - اجتماعات البلديات، المنتديات المجتمعية، والشراكات مع منظمات المجتمع المدني لإشراك المواطنين.
 - 3. إبراز قصص النجاح:
 - تسليط الضوء على نجاح المناطق التجريبية من خلال دراسات حالة وشهادات.
 - 4. منصات الحكومة الإلكترونية:
- أدوات رقمية لتعزيز الشفافية، تقديم الملاحظات من المواطنين، ومتابعة تقدم اللامركزية.

الخاتمة

اللامركزية إصلاح تحويلي يفي بوعد اتفاق الطائف بتحديث الإدارة العامة. إنها تعالج أوجه القصور في الحوكمة، وتعزز العدالة الاقتصادية، وتكرس المساءلة، بينما تقوي الوحدة الوطنية. من خلال تمكين المواطنين والمناطق، يمكن للامركزية أن تعيد بناء الثقة في الحكومة وتمهد الطريق لمستقبل مزدهر.

التوصيات

- .1 إطلاق قانون شامل للامركزية يتماشى مع الإطار الوطني للبنان.
 - .2 بناء توافق سياسى ومعالجة سوء الفهم حول الفيدرالية.
- 3. تمكين البلديات من خلال التدريب والدعم الفنى والاستقلال المالى.
 - 4. تنفيذ آليات رقابة قوية لضمان الشفافية ومنع سوء الإدارة.
 - .5 تعزيز التوعية العامة وإشراك المواطنين في عملية اللامركزية.

اللامركزية ليست خطوة نحو التقسيم، بل هي خطوة نحو التحديث والعدالة والوحدة للبنان أقوى وأكثر استدامة.

Making the Case for Decentralization: Why It Is Not Federalism

One of the most common objections to decentralization in Lebanon is the fear that it could lead to federalism, which some associate with political or territorial fragmentation, sectarianism, or even the disintegration of the state. However, decentralization and federalism are fundamentally different concepts, and advocating for decentralization is not advocating for federalism or separation. Below is a detailed argument to clarify this distinction and make the case for decentralization as a tool for strengthening national unity and improving governance.

1. Decentralization: Strengthening, Not Dividing the State

What Is Decentralization?

- Decentralization is the transfer of administrative and financial authority from the central government to local and regional governments, allowing them to manage specific services, projects, and resources within a unified state framework.
- It retains the central government's authority over national policies, defense, foreign affairs, and overall governance.

How Is It Different from Federalism?

- Federalism establishes semi-autonomous or autonomous states or regions with constitutional authority, often with their own laws, judicial systems, and constitutions
- In decentralization, local governments remain subordinate to the national government and operate under a single constitution and legal framework.

For example:

• Decentralization allows a municipality in Lebanon to decide how to manage its waste collection or local infrastructure without needing approval from the central government.

• Federalism, by contrast, would create regional governments with legislative and judicial independence, which is not being proposed.

2. Decentralization Is in Line with National Unity

Avoids Political Fragmentation

- Decentralization does not redraw political boundaries or give regions political independence. All regions and municipalities operate under the same national constitution and laws.
- Decision-making is devolved, but ultimate authority remains with the central government, ensuring Lebanon's territorial integrity and unity.

Strengthens National Identity

- By empowering local communities, decentralization can reduce the sense of marginalization and alienation felt in underdeveloped regions.
- This strengthens citizens' connection to the state as they see tangible improvements in their lives, reducing mistrust in governance.

Reduces Sectarian Tensions

- Centralized governance has often exacerbated sectarian divides by concentrating power in Beirut and forcing communities to compete for resources and representation.
- Decentralization distributes power equitably across regions, allowing communities to focus on their local needs rather than sectarian affiliations.

3. Decentralization Does Not Threaten the Taif Agreement

Decentralization Aligns with the Taif Agreement

• The Taif Agreement (1989) explicitly calls for administrative decentralization as a means to modernize governance in Lebanon.

- Article 3 states: "The system of decentralization will expand the authority of local units by providing them with broad administrative and financial powers."
- Implementing decentralization is a fulfillment of the Taif Agreement, not a deviation from it.

It Maintains the National Framework

• Unlike federalism, which could lead to independent governance structures, decentralization ensures that all local governments remain accountable to the central government, reinforcing the Taif Agreement's vision of a united state.

4. Decentralization Addresses Real Needs

Better Governance

- Centralized systems often lead to inefficiencies, corruption, and neglect of local needs. Decentralization brings decision-making closer to the people, allowing for more responsive and efficient governance.
- For example, rural municipalities in Lebanon often wait years for the central government to approve basic infrastructure projects. Decentralization would enable them to act without such delays.

Economic Equity

- Centralized governance has historically led to economic imbalances, with Beirut and Mount Lebanon monopolizing resources while peripheral regions like Akkar, the Bekaa, and the South remain underdeveloped.
- Decentralization enables all regions to unlock their potential by managing their own resources, attracting investments, and reducing poverty and regional disparities.

Transparency and Accountability

• Local governments are more accessible to citizens, making it easier to monitor spending and hold officials accountable.

• Decentralization would create mechanisms for public participation in decision-making, fostering trust in government.

5. Learning from International Examples

Decentralization has been successfully implemented in unitary states around the world, showing that it does not lead to federalism or separation. Examples include:

Lebanon

- Lebanon is a unitary state with a strong central government, but it has implemented decentralization to empower regions and municipalities to manage local services.
- Despite devolved powers, Lebanese local authorities remain fully subordinate to the national government.

Jordan

- Jordan, a neighboring Arab monarchy, has implemented decentralization by creating elected municipal and governorate councils.
- This has improved service delivery and allowed local communities to participate in governance without compromising the state's unity.

Tunisia

- Tunisia's post-2011 reforms included administrative decentralization to reduce regional disparities.
- Decentralization has empowered marginalized regions without altering the country's unitary structure.

Lebanon can adopt a similar model, maintaining its unitary state while allowing for greater regional empowerment.

6. Arguments Against the Fear of Separation

Sectorian Balance Is Not Threatened

- Critics often argue that decentralization could lead to sectarian fragmentation. In reality, decentralization reduces the reliance on sectarian networks by creating merit-based, inclusive local governance structures.
- Local councils and municipalities will be elected based on competence and local needs, not sectarian quotas.

Strengthens the State, Weakens Corruption

- A centralized system concentrated in Beirut has often been exploited by sectarian elites for personal gain.
- Decentralization redistributes power and reduces opportunities for corruption, as local governments are directly accountable to their constituents.

Maintains National Oversight

- In a decentralized system, the central government retains oversight and can intervene if a local authority fails to meet its obligations.
- This ensures that national priorities, such as defense, foreign policy, and major infrastructure projects, remain unified.

7. A Step Toward a Modern, Efficient Lebanon

Decentralization is not about dividing Lebanon into sectarian or regional enclaves—it is about creating a modern governance system that prioritizes efficiency, equity, and citizen empowerment. By addressing fears of federalism and separation with clear distinctions, decentralization can be embraced as a tool to:

- 1. Strengthen the Lebanese state.
- 2. Improve governance for all regions.
- 3. Reduce corruption and inequality.

4. Fulfill Lebanon's constitutional obligations and international commitments.

By making governance more participatory and responsive, decentralization fosters unity, not division, ensuring a prosperous and cohesive Lebanon.

Comprehensive plan for public sector decentralization in Lebanon, with deeper exploration of each section:

1. Goals and Objectives of Decentralization

Empower Local Governments

- Shift decision-making authority from the central government to local authorities (municipalities and regional councils).
- Allow municipalities to manage local resources, prioritize projects, and develop customized policies based on the unique needs of their populations.
- Empower municipalities to develop urban plans, infrastructure projects, and environmental policies.

Improve Service Delivery

- Decentralized governance would enable local authorities to provide essential services such as education, healthcare, transportation, water, and sanitation more efficiently.
- Local authorities would be more accessible to residents, reducing bureaucratic delays and inefficiencies associated with centralized decision-making.

Enhance Accountability

- Local officials would be directly accountable to residents, increasing transparency and responsiveness.
- Decentralized governance would enable regular citizen feedback, audits, and participatory evaluation of public services.

Promote Economic Development

• Regional and local governments could establish economic strategies that utilize local resources, attract investments, and create job opportunities.

• Decentralization could reduce reliance on the national government and encourage competition between regions, spurring innovation and growth.

Preserve Social Cohesion

- By addressing regional disparities, decentralization can promote equity and reduce grievances that often fuel sectarian and political tensions.
- Empowering local communities fosters trust in governance, creating a sense of belonging and shared responsibility.

2. Structural Framework

Legal Reforms

- Amend Municipality Law: Modernize Lebanon's municipal law (Law 118) to grant municipalities broader decision-making powers in areas such as infrastructure, healthcare, education, and housing.
- Pass Decentralization Law: Introduce and enforce legislation to create regional councils with elected representatives responsible for regional planning, budgeting, and service delivery.

Administrative Layers

- Local Authorities (Municipalities): Handle basic services, urban planning, waste management, local infrastructure, and cultural projects.
- Regional Councils: Oversee broader economic and social development, manage regional projects, and coordinate among municipalities within their jurisdiction.
- Central Government: Focus on national policies, defense, foreign affairs, and regulatory oversight while supporting local authorities with technical assistance.

Financial Autonomy

• Local Taxation Powers: Enable municipalities to collect taxes on properties, businesses, and local activities to generate revenue for projects.

- Revenue-Sharing Mechanisms: Implement a system where local governments retain a portion of revenues generated from national taxes within their regions.
- Equalization Fund: Create a national fund to redistribute resources from wealthier municipalities to disadvantaged areas to address imbalances.

Capacity Building

- Train municipal officials in public administration, strategic planning, financial management, and technology integration.
- Partner with international organizations for technical assistance and knowledge-sharing.

3. Technology Integration

- E-Governance Platforms: Create digital systems for budget allocation, service requests, and real-time tracking of projects.
- Transparency Tools: Develop public portals where citizens can monitor municipal finances, project statuses, and performance reports.
- Data-Driven Decision-Making: Use digital tools for data collection and analysis to guide policy-making and resource allocation.
- Inter-Governmental Communication: Implement systems to streamline coordination between central, regional, and local authorities, reducing duplication of efforts

4. Citizen Participation

- Public Consultations: Hold regular town hall meetings and workshops to involve citizens in decision-making processes.
- Participatory Budgeting: Allow citizens to vote on how local budgets are allocated to ensure their priorities are addressed.
- Feedback Mechanisms: Develop systems (e.g., surveys, mobile apps) where residents can report issues, evaluate services, and suggest improvements.

• Civil Society Engagement: Collaborate with NGOs and community organizations to build trust and ensure inclusivity.

5. National Coordination

- Establish a National Decentralization Commission (NDC):
- This body would oversee the decentralization process, set benchmarks, and resolve disputes between central and local authorities.
- The NDC would include representatives from the government, local authorities, civil society, and international organizations.
 - Develop a Decentralization Roadmap:
- Phase the implementation of decentralization to allow for testing and adjustments.
- Prioritize reforms in pilot regions to demonstrate the benefits of decentralization

Obstacles to Decentralization in Lebanon

1. Political Resistance

- Centralized power benefits Lebanon's political elite, who use patronage networks for electoral and financial gains.
- Fear of decentralization disrupting the current sectarian balance and power-sharing agreements.

2. Weak Local Governance

- Many municipalities lack experienced staff, financial resources, and access to technical expertise.
- Poor record-keeping and limited planning capacity hinder long-term development.

3. Financial Challenges

- Most municipalities rely heavily on the Independent Municipal Fund (IMF), which is unpredictable and unevenly distributed.
- Many municipalities struggle with unpaid debts and lack mechanisms to collect local taxes efficiently.

4. Inequalities Between Regions

- Beirut and Mount Lebanon dominate economically, leaving rural and peripheral regions underdeveloped.
- Infrastructure gaps, lack of schools, and poor healthcare access exacerbate these disparities.

5. Sectarianism

• Lebanon's confessional system often prioritizes sectarian affiliations over merit-based governance, fostering mistrust.

6. Lack of Legal Framework

• Despite the Taif Agreement's call for decentralization, no comprehensive law has been passed to clarify roles and responsibilities.

7. Corruption

• Widespread corruption and nepotism undermine confidence in government institutions at all levels.

Solutions to Overcome Obstacles

1. Building Political Will

• Conduct awareness campaigns to showcase how decentralization benefits all regions and reduces pressure on central government institutions.

• Garner support from international donors and organizations to incentivize reforms.

2. Strengthening Local Governance

- Partner municipalities with successful local authorities abroad for mentorship and capacity-building.
 - Establish regional training centers to improve governance skills.

3. Ensuring Financial Viability

- Modernize property tax collection systems to increase municipal revenues.
- Introduce innovative financing mechanisms, such as public-private partnerships (PPPs) and municipal bonds.

4. Promoting Equity Between Regions

- Develop integrated national plans to address infrastructure gaps in underserved areas.
- Implement performance-based grants for municipalities to encourage effective governance.

5. Addressing Sectarian Concerns

- Promote merit-based recruitment and ensure equal representation of sects in regional councils.
- Implement inclusive decision-making processes that prioritize national over sectarian interests

6. Enacting Legal Reforms

- Fast-track the passage of the decentralization law through political dialogue and public pressure.
- Clearly define responsibilities and dispute resolution mechanisms to prevent jurisdictional conflicts.

7. Fighting Corruption

- Establish anti-corruption units to monitor local and regional governance.
- Require public officials to declare assets and submit to regular audits.

Expected Benefits

- 1. **Improved Governance:** Services tailored to regional needs improve efficiency and citizen satisfaction.
- **2. Balanced Development:** Equal opportunities for economic growth reduce rural-urban migration.
- **3. Social Cohesion:** Communities feel more engaged and less reliant on centralized sectarian systems.
- **4. Stronger Democracy**: Accountability at the local level strengthens democratic institutions and builds trust in governance.

This expanded plan offers a clear vision for decentralization in Lebanon, addressing both challenges and actionable solutions for sustainable development.

Phased Plan of Action for Decentralization in Lebanon

To implement decentralization effectively in Lebanon, a phased approach is essential to build momentum, address challenges incrementally, and ensure the readiness of all stakeholders. Below is a detailed, step-by-step phased plan over 10 years, divided into short-, medium-, and long-term actions.

Phase 1: Preparatory Phase (Years 1–2)

Focus on building political consensus, establishing legal frameworks, and preparing local authorities.

1. Political and Legal Foundations

- Engage Stakeholders:
- Conduct national dialogues with government officials, political leaders, local authorities, and civil society organizations to build consensus.
- Highlight the economic, social, and governance benefits of decentralization.
 - Draft and Pass the Decentralization Law:
- Establish clear roles and responsibilities for municipalities, regional councils, and the central government.
- Define fiscal autonomy for local governments, including taxation powers and revenue-sharing mechanisms.

2. Institutional Setup

- Establish the National Decentralization Commission (NDC):
- Task the NDC with overseeing the decentralization process, resolving disputes, and monitoring progress.
- Include representatives from the public and private sectors, NGOs, and international organizations.

3. Capacity Assessment

- Conduct an audit of municipalities to evaluate their financial, technical, and human resource capacities.
 - Identify resource gaps, particularly in underdeveloped or rural areas.

4. Awareness and Education

- Launch a public awareness campaign to educate citizens about the objectives and benefits of decentralization.
- Develop training programs for municipal leaders, local administrators, and elected officials to prepare them for expanded responsibilities.

Phase 2: Pilot Implementation Phase (Years 3–5)

Test decentralization in selected regions to evaluate the process, identify challenges, and refine the framework.

1. Pilot Projects

- Select 3 to 5 pilot regions that represent diverse economic, geographic, and demographic conditions (e.g., rural, urban, and mixed areas).
- Transfer responsibilities for specific services to local governments in these regions (e.g., waste management, local infrastructure, and education).

2. Strengthening Local Governance

- Build the capacity of local governments through:
- Establishing regional training centers.
- Providing technical assistance for strategic planning, budgeting, and service delivery.
- Launch e-governance platforms in pilot regions for transparency and efficiency.

3. Financial Decentralization

- Allocate initial funding from the central government to pilot regions and allow them to generate revenue through local taxation.
- Test a resource equalization fund to redistribute resources from wealthier municipalities to less affluent ones.

4. Citizen Engagement

- Introduce participatory governance mechanisms in pilot regions, such as:
- Public consultations for major decisions.
- Participatory budgeting initiatives to engage citizens in resource allocation.
- Monitor citizen satisfaction and collect feedback.

5. Monitoring and Evaluation

- Regularly evaluate pilot projects to assess progress, identify bottlenecks, and refine the decentralization framework.
- Publish findings to build public trust and showcase the benefits of decentralization.

Phase 3: Scaling Up Phase (Years 6–8)

Expand decentralization to all regions based on lessons learned from the pilot phase.

1. Gradual Rollout

- Transfer responsibilities to municipalities and newly established regional councils nationwide, focusing on:
 - Service delivery (e.g., healthcare, education, transportation).
 - Infrastructure development (e.g., roads, water supply).

- Environmental management (e.g., waste management, renewable energy).
- Ensure that local governments have sufficient financial resources and technical capacity before transferring additional responsibilities.

2. Enhancing Financial Autonomy

- Grant municipalities and regional councils full taxation authority over property taxes, business licenses, and local fees.
 - Ensure the equalization fund is operational and functioning transparently.

3. Institutional Strengthening

- Expand training programs and technical assistance to all municipalities and regional councils.
- Strengthen accountability mechanisms, such as regular audits and public reporting of municipal performance.

4. Technology Integration

- Launch a national e-governance platform to connect central, regional, and local governments.
- Digitize municipal services, such as tax collection, permit applications, and public feedback systems.

5. National Coordination

• The NDC will oversee the coordination of central and local governments, resolving disputes and ensuring uniform implementation.

Phase 4: Full Implementation and Optimization Phase (Years 9–10)

Achieve nationwide decentralization and focus on sustainability, equity, and continuous improvement.

1. Full Decentralization

• Transfer remaining powers to municipalities and regional councils, making local governments fully autonomous in service delivery and resource management.

2. Continuous Monitoring and Evaluation

- Implement performance-based incentives for municipalities and regional councils that achieve high standards in governance and service delivery.
- Regularly assess the impact of decentralization on economic development, regional equity, and citizen satisfaction.

3. National Integration

- Ensure effective collaboration between central, regional, and local governments through institutionalized mechanisms, such as regular joint meetings and shared databases.
- Foster regional cooperation for projects that span multiple municipalities (e.g., intercity transportation, water management).

4. Strengthening Equity

- Continuously monitor and address disparities between wealthier and poorer regions by:
 - Adjusting equalization fund allocations.
- Prioritizing underdeveloped areas for infrastructure and capacity-building projects.

5. Institutionalizing Citizen Participation

• Enshrine citizen participation mechanisms in law to ensure long-term engagement in governance.

• Promote civic education programs to empower citizens to hold local governments accountable.

Key Milestones and Indicators

Year	Milestone	Indicators
Year 1	National Decentralization Commission established	Commission operational; roadmap published.
Year 2	Decentralization law passed	Legal framework enacted.
Year 3	Pilot projects launched	Selected regions begin implementing powers.
Year 5	Pilot phase evaluated; expansion begins	Evaluation report published; expansion plan finalized.
Year 8	Decentralization scaled nationwide	Regional councils operational in all areas.
Year 10	Full decentralization achieved	Increased local revenue, citizen satisfaction, and regional equity.

Expected Long-Term Impacts

- **1. Governance Efficiency**: Enhanced service delivery and responsiveness at the local level.
- **2. Economic Growth**: Increased regional development, reduced economic disparities, and greater private sector investment.
- **3. Social Cohesion**: Strengthened trust in governance, reduced sectarian tensions, and improved quality of life.
- **4. Sustainable Development**: Local governments focus on long-term environmental and infrastructural sustainability.

This phased plan ensures a gradual, inclusive, and systematic decentralization process that addresses Lebanon's unique challenges while paving the way for sustainable governance and development.

Promotional and Public Awareness Campaigns for Decentralization in Lebanon

A well-structured public awareness campaign is essential to promote decentralization in Lebanon, address misconceptions (such as its alleged link to federalism), and encourage public and political buy-in. The campaign must focus on educating the public about the benefits of decentralization, fostering trust, and ensuring transparency throughout the process.

Below is a comprehensive plan for promotional and awareness efforts.

Campaign Objectives

- 1. Educate the public about what decentralization entails and how it benefits citizens.
- 2. Address Misconceptions by clarifying that decentralization is not federalism and does not lead to division or separation.
- 3. Foster Support from stakeholders, including citizens, municipalities, civil society, and political leaders.
- 4. Involve Communities in the decentralization process to build ownership and participation.
- 5. Showcase Success Stories from other countries and pilot regions to demonstrate the positive impact of decentralization.

Target Audiences

- 1. General Public: To increase understanding and support for decentralization.
- 2. Municipal Leaders and Local Officials: To prepare them for expanded responsibilities.

- 3. Civil Society Organizations (CSOs): To mobilize grassroots support and promote community engagement.
- 4. Youth and Students: To cultivate long-term commitment to decentralization as a pathway to better governance.
- 5. Policymakers and Political Leaders: To gain consensus and support for legislative reforms.
 - 6. Media Outlets: To amplify messages and shape public discourse.

Key Messages

- 1. "Decentralization Empowers You": Highlight how decentralization brings governance closer to citizens, enabling them to influence local decisions.
- 2. "Stronger Regions, Stronger Lebanon": Emphasize that decentralization promotes national unity and balanced development.
- 3. "Modern Governance for a Modern Lebanon": Position decentralization as a reform for more efficient, transparent, and accountable governance.
- 4. "Decentralization Is Not Federalism": Clarify that decentralization operates within a unified state framework and does not threaten Lebanon's territorial integrity.
- 5. "Equality for All Regions": Showcase how decentralization addresses regional disparities and promotes fairness.

Campaign Strategies

1. Public Awareness Campaign

- Media Outreach:
- Partner with TV channels, radio stations, newspapers, and online platforms to disseminate educational content.
- Create talk shows, debates, and interviews with experts to explain decentralization.
 - Social Media Campaign:

- Launch social media pages and hashtags (e.g., #DecentralizeLebanon, #LocalEmpowerment) to engage the youth.
- Share infographics, videos, and success stories to explain the benefits of decentralization in an accessible way.

Advertisements:

• Produce short TV and radio ads that highlight real-life examples of how decentralization can improve infrastructure, education, and public services.

2. Educational Campaign

- Workshops and Seminars:
- Organize town hall meetings and workshops in municipalities to explain the decentralization framework and its benefits.
 - Train local officials and CSOs on the technical aspects of decentralization.
 - School and University Programs:
- Develop educational materials and programs for schools and universities to teach students about decentralization and governance.

3. Grassroots Mobilization

- Community Leaders:
- Engage local influencers, religious leaders, and municipal officials to act as ambassadors for decentralization.
 - Host community forums to address concerns and gather feedback.
 - Participatory Initiatives:
- Launch local campaigns encouraging citizens to propose ideas for improving their municipalities under decentralization.

4. Pilot Region Promotion

- Highlight Pilot Success Stories:
- Showcase improvements in governance, infrastructure, and public services in pilot decentralization regions.

• Produce documentaries and case studies to demonstrate the tangible benefits of decentralization.

5. Transparency Campaign

- E-Governance Platform:
- Create a website to track decentralization progress, publish updates, and address frequently asked questions.
 - Include a section for citizen feedback and suggestions.
 - Citizen Engagement Tools:
- Use participatory budgeting tools in pilot regions to involve citizens in local financial decisions.
- Create an app or portal for citizens to monitor local government performance.

Campaign Timeline

Phase 1: Launch (First 6 Months)

- Launch national media and social media campaigns to introduce decentralization and clarify misconceptions.
- Organize town hall meetings and workshops in major cities and rural areas.
- Establish partnerships with key stakeholders, including CSOs, universities, and media outlets.

Phase 2: Education and Mobilization (6–18 Months)

- Roll out educational programs in schools, universities, and community centers
 - Conduct regional workshops to prepare municipalities for expanded roles.
- Launch pilot region promotions to showcase the impact of decentralization.

Phase 3: Sustained Awareness (Years 2–5)

- Continuously update the public on the progress of decentralization reforms through media and e-governance platforms.
 - Expand grassroots mobilization efforts to rural and marginalized areas.
 - Highlight long-term success stories to build momentum for scaling up.

Tools and Resources

- 1. Infographics and Pamphlets: Easy-to-understand visuals explaining decentralization benefits and processes.
- 2. Videos and Documentaries: Short videos featuring testimonials from citizens, experts, and municipal officials.
- 3. Interactive Digital Platforms: A website and mobile app for citizens to track progress, submit feedback, and access services.
- 4. Media Kits: Toolkits for journalists and influencers to spread accurate information about decentralization.
- 5. Public Events: National Decentralization Day, town hall meetings, and regional conferences.

Performance Indicators

- Public Awareness Levels: Increase in citizens' understanding of decentralization, measured through surveys.
- Engagement Metrics: Social media reach, participation in public forums, and website/app usage.
- Stakeholder Support: Number of political leaders, municipal officials, and CSOs endorsing decentralization.
- Citizen Participation: Increased involvement in participatory governance initiatives.
- Pilot Region Success: Improvements in service delivery, citizen satisfaction, and local government performance in pilot regions.

Expected Outcomes

- 1. Enhanced public understanding of decentralization and its benefits.
- 2. Reduction in misconceptions about federalism or separation.
- 3. Greater public and political support for decentralization reforms.
- 4. Active citizen participation in governance processes.
- 5. Improved trust in local and national government institutions.

By implementing a robust promotional and awareness campaign, Lebanon can pave the way for a smooth and successful decentralization process, ensuring it is embraced as a unifying reform for a stronger and more inclusive state.

خطة شاملة للامركزية في القطاع العام في لبنان والتحديات التي تواجهها والحلول

مقدمة

اللامركزية في القطاع العام تمثل حلاً جذريًا للتحديات التي تواجه لبنان، بما في ذلك الفساد، ضعف الحوكمة، التفاوتات الإقليمية، وقلة كفاءة تقديم الخدمات. تعتمد اللامركزية على تفويض السلطات من الحكومة المركزية إلى الهيئات المحلية، مما يسهم في تحسين الحوكمة، تعزيز التنمية المتوازنة، وتمكين المواطنين.

محاور الخطة الشاملة للامركزية

.1 التشريعات والإطار القانوني

- إصدار قانون شامل للامركزية يحدد بوضوح صلاحيات ومسؤوليات الحكومات المحلية.
 - تعديل القوانين الحالية التي تعيق تنفيذ اللامركزية.
 - ضمان الالتزام بالقانون الأساسي للدولة (الدستور) واتفاق الطائف.

.2إعادة توزيع الصلاحيات والمسؤوليات

- تفويض السلطات الإدارية والمالية إلى البلديات والمناطق.
- إعظاء الحكومات المحلية الصلاحيات اللازمة لتطوير السياسات المحلية وإدارة المشاريع.
- تحديد دور واضح للحكومة المركزية في الإشراف والتنظيم دون التدخل في العمليات المحلية.

. 3 تمويل الحكومات المحلية

- إنشاء آليات لتمويل البلديات، مثل تقاسم الضرائب المحلية والوطنية.
- تأسيس صندوق تعويض يضمن توزيعًا عادلًا للموارد بين المناطق الغنية والفقيرة.

• تشجيع الشراكات بين القطاعين العام والخاص لدعم المشاريع المحلية.

. 4بناء القدرات المحلية

- تدريب المسؤولين المحليين على إدارة المشاريع، المالية العامة، والمساءلة.
- تعزيز القدرات التكنولوجية من خلال الحكومة الإلكترونية لتحسين الخدمات المحلية.
 - تطوير برامج دعم فني للبلديات الصغيرة والمناطق النائية.

5تحسين الشفافية والمساءلة

- تطبيق أنظمة رقابة داخلية وخارجية لضمان الشفافية في إدارة الموارد.
- إنشاء بوابات إلكترونية تتيح للمواطنين متابعة أداء الحكومات المحلية والمشاركة في عملية اتخاذ القرار.
 - تعزيز دور المجتمع المدني في مراقبة وتقييم أداء البلديات.

التحديات التي تواجه اللامركزية

.1الخوف من الفيدرالية

- ينظر إلى اللامركزية أحيانًا على أنها خطوة نحو الفيدرالية أو الانفصال، مما يثير مخاوف سياسية.
 - الحل: تنظيم حملات توعية لتوضيح أن اللامركزية تعني تعزيز الكفاءة والتنمية داخل اطار الدولة الموحدة.

.2ضعف القدرات المحلية

- تفتقر العديد من البلديات إلى الموارد البشرية والتقنية اللازمة لإدارة الصلاحيات الإضافية.
 - الحل: تنفيذ برامج تدريبية ودعم فني لرفع كفاءة البلديات.

. 3غياب التمويل الكافي

- تعتمد البلديات بشكل كبير على المساعدات المركزية، مما يحد من قدرتها على اتخاذ قرارات مستقلة.
 - الحل: منح البلديات صلاحيات جمع الضرائب وإنشاء صناديق تمويل محلية.

. 4مقاومة التغيير من قبل النخب السياسية

- قد تعارض بعض الأطراف السياسية اللامركزية خشية فقدان السيطرة.
- الحل: بناء توافق سياسي من خلال الحوار وتوضيح فوائد اللامركزية لجميع الأطراف.

. 5 الفساد وسوء الإدارة

- الخوف من تفاقم الفساد على المستوى المحلي.
- الحل: تطبيق آليات رقابة صارمة وضمان الشفافية من خلال أدوات الحكومة الإلكترونية.

الحلول المقترحة

- .1 إطلاق حوار وطني شامل: لتوضيح أهداف وفوائد اللامركزية وطمأنة الأطراف السياسية.
- 2. تجربة نماذج تجريبية: تنفيذ مشاريع تجريبية في مناطق مختارة لقياس الفعالية ومعالجة التحديات.
 - 3. تعزيز الرقابة: إنشاء هيئات رقابية مستقلة لمتابعة الأداء المالي والإداري للحكومات المحلية.
 - 4. التكنولوجيا والحوكمة الإلكترونية: استخدام التكنولوجيا لتعزيز الشفافية والمشاركة العامة.
 - 5. التنمية المتوازنة: توجيه الموارد نحو المناطق المهمشة لتعزيز الثقة في العملية اللامركزية.

الخاتمة

تعد اللامركزية خطوة جوهرية نحو تحسين الحوكمة وتعزيز التنمية المستدامة في لبنان. على الرغم من التحديات، فإن تنفيذ خطة شاملة ومتكاملة للامركزية، مدعومة بإرادة سياسية قوية، يمكن أن يعيد بناء ثقة المواطنين في الدولة ويحقق التنمية المتوازنة.

Proposed Decentralization Policy for Lebanon

Introduction

Lebanon faces significant challenges in terms of governance, economic inequality, and regional disparities. The proposed decentralization policy seeks to address these challenges by transferring authority and resources to local governments, thus empowering communities and fostering sustainable development. This policy aims to strengthen the state's structure, improve public service delivery, and promote regional equity without compromising national unity.

Policy Objectives

- 1. Enhance Local Governance: Empower municipalities and local governments to take decisions that directly affect their communities, improving responsiveness and service delivery.
- 2. Promote Economic Development: Encourage local economic growth by allowing regions to develop tailored solutions to their unique challenges and potential.
- 3. Reduce Regional Disparities: Ensure equal distribution of resources to underdeveloped areas through financial support and decentralization mechanisms.
- 4. Increase Accountability and Transparency: Ensure local governments are more accountable to their constituents, enhancing trust in public institutions.
- 5. Foster National Unity: Prevent the rise of sectarianism and promote social cohesion by addressing local needs directly within the framework of Lebanon's unity.

Key Components of the Decentralization Policy

1. Legal and Institutional Framework

• Establish a Clear Legal Framework: Draft a comprehensive law defining the roles, responsibilities, and powers of local governments, ensuring consistency with the Lebanese Constitution and the Taif Agreement.

- Local Government Structure: Establish clear tiers of local government, ranging from municipalities to governorates, each with specific administrative powers. Define the jurisdiction and scope of local councils, ensuring that local governments have control over specific sectors (e.g., education, healthcare, infrastructure).
- Coordination Between Local and Central Governments: The central government should retain key responsibilities in defense, foreign affairs, and monetary policy, while transferring responsibilities for local public services, urban planning, and development.

2. Fiscal Autonomy and Resource Allocation

- Revenue Generation: Allow local governments to generate revenue through local taxes, fees, and other financial instruments. Develop mechanisms to ensure equitable distribution of resources across regions.
- Equalization Fund: Establish an equalization fund to support poorer regions, ensuring all municipalities have sufficient resources for basic services, infrastructure, and development projects.
- Transparent Budgeting: Ensure local governments follow transparent budgeting processes, with public access to budget reports and plans.

3. Strengthening Capacity at Local Levels

- Training and Capacity Building: Provide training programs for local officials on financial management, governance, project implementation, and public service delivery. Set up technical assistance units to provide continuous support to municipalities.
- Decentralized Planning: Encourage municipalities to develop local development plans tailored to their specific needs, integrating regional priorities with national goals.
- E-Governance Tools: Implement e-governance platforms for efficient administration, allowing local governments to manage resources and communicate effectively with citizens.

4. Local Democracy and Citizen Participation

• Public Consultation Processes: Introduce mechanisms for regular consultations with citizens through town hall meetings, surveys, and public hearings,

ensuring that local government decisions reflect the needs and aspirations of the community.

- Citizen Monitoring: Enable civil society organizations and citizens to monitor local government activities, ensuring transparency and accountability.
- Local Electoral System: Strengthen the local electoral system to ensure fair representation of diverse communities within municipal councils.

5. Strengthening Oversight and Accountability

- Independent Oversight Bodies: Establish independent oversight bodies at the national level to monitor the implementation of decentralization and ensure that local governments adhere to national standards for governance, financial transparency, and service delivery.
- Auditing and Performance Evaluation: Implement rigorous auditing systems and performance evaluation mechanisms for local governments, including public access to audit results and evaluations.
- Judicial Oversight: Ensure that local governments operate within the rule of law, with judicial oversight available to resolve disputes or address cases of malfeasance.

Implementation Phases

Phase 1: Preparation and Legal Reform (Year 1–2)

- Enact Decentralization Legislation: Pass a decentralization law that defines the roles and powers of local governments and clarifies the relationship between local and central authorities.
- Establish an Implementation Task Force: Create a national task force to oversee the decentralization process, including representatives from local governments, civil society, and technical experts.
- Develop Fiscal and Resource Allocation Mechanisms: Set up the Equalization Fund and develop frameworks for revenue sharing and financial support for local governments.

Phase 2: Institutional Development and Capacity Building (Year 2–4)

- Establish Local Governance Infrastructure: Build the technical and administrative infrastructure necessary for local governments to function effectively.
- Training and Technical Assistance: Launch extensive training programs for local government officials, focusing on financial management, service delivery, and democratic governance.
- Pilot Projects: Implement decentralization pilot projects in select municipalities to test the new system and address potential challenges.

Phase 3: Full-Scale Implementation (Year 4–7)

- Expand Decentralization to All Municipalities: Gradually extend decentralization to all municipalities, ensuring that local governments have the resources and capacity to manage their responsibilities.
- Evaluation and Adjustments: Continuously evaluate the decentralization process through performance reviews and audits. Make necessary adjustments to improve the policy's effectiveness.

Phase 4: Long-Term Sustainability (Year 7–10)

- Strengthen Local Democracy and Accountability: Promote regular elections at the local level and ensure citizens have a direct role in shaping local policies.
- Review and Improve Fiscal Mechanisms: Continue to refine the financial mechanisms in place, ensuring that local governments are financially sustainable and capable of meeting the needs of their communities.
- Institutionalization of Decentralization: Embed decentralization within Lebanon's political and administrative culture, making it a permanent feature of governance.

Challenges and Solutions

1. Political Resistance and Misconceptions

- Challenge: Resistance from central government authorities and political elites who may fear losing control.
- Solution: Implement a national public awareness campaign to clarify that decentralization strengthens the state's unity and ensures better governance, not fragmentation.

2. Capacity Constraints in Local Governments

- Challenge: Many municipalities lack the technical expertise and administrative capacity to manage additional responsibilities.
- Solution: Provide extensive training programs and technical support for local governments, coupled with a phased approach to responsibility transfer.

3. Corruption and Mismanagement

- Challenge: The risk of corruption at the local level.
- Solution: Strengthen oversight mechanisms, including external audits, transparency initiatives, and citizen participation in monitoring.

Conclusion

The proposed decentralization policy for Lebanon is designed to empower local governments, promote equitable development, and strengthen national unity. By enabling local authorities to better respond to the unique needs of their communities, Lebanon can build a more efficient, transparent, and democratic system of governance. Through careful planning, strong political will, and ongoing capacity-building, decentralization can lead to a more resilient and prosperous Lebanon.

Example of a Municipality under a Decentralized System: The Municipality of Joun, Al Chouf in Lebanon

Lebanon offers a relevant example of a successful decentralized municipal system. Under the Lebanese decentralization laws, municipalities are granted substantial autonomy in local governance. Here's how the municipality of Joun, a fictional representative example based on Lebanon 's decentralization system, operates:

Key Features of Joun Municipality under Decentralization

1. Local Governance and Decision-Making Power

- Mayor and Municipal Council: Joun is governed by a Mayor and a Municipal Council, both directly elected by the citizens. The Mayor acts as the head of the local executive, while the Council represents the legislative body of the municipality.
- Direct Decision-Making: The local government has the authority to make decisions related to municipal planning, urban development, social services, education, and public infrastructure without seeking approval from central government authorities.

2. Fiscal Autonomy and Local Budget

- Revenue Generation: Joun generates local revenue through taxes (property, business, etc.), public services (e.g., waste collection fees), and local economic development initiatives.
- Budget Control: The Municipal Council has full control over the local budget, allocating funds to essential services such as healthcare, education, transportation, and housing. They can also pursue investments and public-private partnerships to finance specific projects.
- Equalization Funds: Joun receives additional funding from the central government to ensure that it can provide equal-quality services, especially in areas like education and healthcare, where financial disparities may exist between urban and rural municipalities.

3. Public Services and Infrastructure

- Urban Planning: Joun has the authority to decide on its urban planning and zoning regulations, allowing the municipality to develop according to local needs and community desires.
- Public Transport and Infrastructure: The local government manages public transport systems and infrastructure projects, such as road maintenance, waste management, and environmental initiatives.
- Education and Healthcare: The municipality is responsible for local schools, daycare centers, and hospitals, ensuring they meet the needs of local residents while adhering to national standards for education and healthcare.

4. Local Economic Development

- Tailored Economic Strategies: Joun has the autonomy to develop its own economic strategy based on its unique resources, such as supporting local agriculture, tourism, or small businesses. They can create initiatives to attract investments, support local entrepreneurs, and foster job creation.
- Job Training and Employment: The municipality offers local job training programs and career services that align with the needs of the community, particularly addressing unemployment issues in specific regions.

5. Public Participation and Accountability

- Citizen Engagement: Joun organizes regular town hall meetings, public consultations, and surveys to ensure citizens have a voice in the decision-making process. The local government is held accountable through periodic evaluations, public hearings, and participatory budgeting initiatives.
- Transparency: All local budgets, project plans, and key decisions are published online, providing citizens easy access to information about how public funds are being spent.

6. Relationship with Central Government

• Oversight and Support: While Joun has significant autonomy, it operates under the legal framework set by the central government. The state provides regulatory oversight to ensure that the municipality follows national laws regarding environmental protection, health and safety standards, and fiscal discipline.

• Collaboration on National Projects: For projects requiring national resources or impacting multiple regions, Joun collaborates with central government agencies. This includes projects in infrastructure, national transport networks, and major public initiatives.

Advantages of Decentralization in Joun

- 1. Increased Efficiency: With decision-making power resting at the local level, Joun can address community-specific issues more quickly, improving the efficiency of public services.
- 2. Better Resource Allocation: The municipality can prioritize spending on local infrastructure and social services, ensuring funds are directed to areas with the highest demand.
- 3. Stronger Local Economy: Joun's autonomy allows it to develop an economic plan tailored to its unique strengths, helping to create more local jobs and attracting private investments.
- 4. Enhanced Community Engagement: Local citizens are more involved in decision-making, as they directly interact with elected officials who represent their interests.
- 5. Improved Accountability: With a local government that is directly accountable to the citizens, Joun benefits from improved transparency and a higher level of public trust in local authorities.

Conclusion

Joun's experience within Lebanon 's decentralized system highlights the potential for municipalities to effectively manage their own affairs while maintaining a strong relationship with the central government. Through fiscal autonomy, empowered local governance, and citizen participation, Joun is able to address the unique needs of its population, drive local economic growth, and ensure high-quality public services. This model demonstrates the benefits of decentralization and can serve as a useful reference for municipalities in other decentralized systems.

Municipality Organizational Structure under a Decentralized System in Lebanon

In a decentralized system in Lebanon, municipalities would gain increased autonomy to manage local affairs, improve public services, and address regional disparities. The organizational structure would involve multiple levels of authority, each with clear roles and responsibilities for efficient governance. Below is an outline of a possible municipality organizational structure under decentralization:

1. Elected Local Council (Municipal Council)

Role and Responsibilities:

- Legislative and Policy-Making Authority: The Municipal Council is the primary body responsible for legislating local policies, enacting regulations, and approving key projects. It determines the priorities for municipal development and allocates resources.
- Council Composition: The Council would consist of elected members based on the size of the municipality's population. Larger municipalities may have more council members, whereas smaller ones may have fewer.
- Election Process: Local council elections would be held regularly, likely every 4–6 years, with council members directly elected by the residents of the municipality.
 - Key Functions:
 - Approving the municipal budget.
- Developing and approving long-term plans for urban development, social services, and public infrastructure.
- Engaging with citizens to ensure their input on key issues such as development, healthcare, education, and public safety.
- Reviewing and approving contracts for public services and infrastructure projects.

Mayor (Head of the Municipality):

- Role: The Mayor serves as the executive head of the municipality and represents it in external matters, including interactions with the central government, other municipalities, and private entities.
 - Responsibilities:
 - Oversee the day-to-day administration and operation of the municipality.
 - Implement policies and decisions made by the Municipal Council.
- Ensure the effective delivery of municipal services, including waste management, water, electricity, public health, and transportation.
 - Serve as the key liaison between the municipality and national authorities.
 - Lead local emergency response efforts and disaster management.

2. Executive Administration and Key Departments

Under the authority of the Mayor, the municipality would consist of several key departments responsible for specific functions, each headed by a director or department head who reports directly to the Mayor. These departments would be responsible for implementing municipal decisions and ensuring smooth operations.

Key Departments:

- 1. Department of Finance and Administration:
- Responsibilities:
- Manage municipal revenue generation through taxes, fees, and other sources.
- Prepare and monitor the municipal budget, ensuring transparency and accountability.
 - Oversee financial reporting, audits, and compliance with legal standards.
- Manage municipal procurement processes for services and infrastructure projects.

• Administer public employee salaries, pensions, and other administrative functions.

2. Department of Urban Planning and Infrastructure:

Responsibilities:

- Oversee land-use planning, zoning, and the issuance of building permits.
- Develop and maintain public infrastructure, including roads, water supply systems, sewage systems, and public spaces.
- Plan and implement urban renewal projects to meet growing population needs and improve livability.
- Ensure that infrastructure projects are aligned with sustainability and environmental standards.

3. Department of Social Services:

Responsibilities:

- Manage public healthcare services, including municipal clinics, hospitals, and health outreach programs.
- Oversee educational programs, from primary to secondary education, and collaborate with national authorities on higher education.
- Provide social welfare services, including support for marginalized populations, the elderly, and youth.
- Administer public housing programs and manage community development initiatives

4. Department of Environment and Sustainability:

Responsibilities:

- Manage waste collection, recycling, and environmental sustainability programs, including green space management and tree planting initiatives.
- Oversee environmental protection regulations, such as pollution control and water management.
 - Promote renewable energy projects and sustainable urban planning.
 - Monitor and implement national environmental policies at the local level.

5. Department of Public Safety and Emergency Services:

Responsibilities:

- Ensure the safety and security of local residents through municipal police or security services.
- Oversee disaster preparedness and emergency response efforts, including natural disasters or public health emergencies.
- Collaborate with national law enforcement agencies and emergency services.
- Organize fire safety, public health awareness, and community policing initiatives.

6. Department of Local Economic Development:

Responsibilities:

- Develop and implement local economic policies to stimulate job creation and support small businesses.
- Promote tourism, local industries, and agriculture, capitalizing on the municipality's unique strengths.
- Coordinate with regional and national governments to attract investment and funding for local projects.
 - Support entrepreneurship and innovation through incubators or grants.

7. Department of Citizen Services and Relations:

Responsibilities:

- Provide services to citizens, such as issuing permits, managing local records, and facilitating public inquiries.
- Manage communication channels for citizens, ensuring transparency and public involvement in decision-making.
- Organize public consultations, town hall meetings, and local forums to engage the community in governance.
- Monitor citizen satisfaction and address grievances related to municipal services.

3. Support and Oversight Bodies

To ensure transparency, accountability, and effective oversight, the decentralized municipality structure should also include independent bodies to monitor and evaluate its operations:

1. Internal Audit Committee:

• Responsible for reviewing the municipality's financial activities, ensuring compliance with regulations, and auditing departmental expenditures.

2. Citizen Advisory Board:

• A voluntary body consisting of local residents and civil society representatives that advises the Municipal Council on important issues and provides feedback on municipal policies.

3. Municipal Ombudsman:

• An independent office tasked with investigating complaints from residents regarding municipal services or governance. This body helps ensure fairness and addresses public concerns effectively.

4. Relationship with Central Government

While the municipality would have significant autonomy, the central government would still play a role in certain areas, particularly those that have national implications:

- **Legal and Regulatory Oversight:** The central government would ensure that municipal activities adhere to national laws and constitutional principles. Local governments must operate within the frameworks of national policies, particularly in sectors like defense, foreign affairs, and finance.
- **Financial Support:** The central government would allocate funds to municipalities, especially those that are financially weaker, through equalization mechanisms or grants for infrastructure projects.
- Intergovernmental Coordination: A central body (e.g., Ministry of Interior and Municipalities) would coordinate between local municipalities and the central government, ensuring alignment of national development strategies with local projects.

5. Citizen Participation and Accountability

A critical aspect of decentralization is ensuring that local governments remain accountable to their citizens:

- **Public Engagement**: Municipalities would regularly consult with residents through public meetings, surveys, and town halls to gather input on decision-making processes.
- **Transparent Reporting**: Municipalities would be required to publish annual reports detailing financial expenditures, service delivery outcomes, and development project statuses.
- **Local Elections**: Regular elections ensure that council members and the Mayor are accountable to the electorate, reinforcing democratic governance.

Conclusion

The proposed organizational structure for municipalities under a decentralized system in Lebanon would ensure that local governments have the autonomy, capacity, and accountability to effectively govern their communities. It would allow for better service delivery, tailored economic development, and greater civic engagement, while still aligning with national governance frameworks. By empowering local authorities and citizens, Lebanon can achieve more sustainable and equitable development across its regions.

Good governance under a decentralized local government system

Good governance under a decentralized local government system requires a combination of institutional frameworks, accountability mechanisms, and active citizen engagement. Below are key strategies to promote transparency, accountability, efficiency, and inclusiveness:

1. Clear Legal and Institutional Framework

- Define Roles and Responsibilities: Clearly delineate the roles and responsibilities of local governments, central authorities, and regional bodies to avoid overlaps or conflicts.
- Comprehensive Legislation: Establish laws and policies that govern decentralization, ensuring local governments have the necessary autonomy to function effectively.
- Adherence to National Standards: Ensure local governments operate within the framework of national policies, especially in areas like human rights, environmental protection, and public service standards.

2. Transparency and Accountability Mechanisms

- Public Financial Management:
- Establish transparent budgeting processes where financial allocations and expenditures are publicly disclosed.
- Conduct regular audits of municipal finances by independent agencies to prevent corruption and mismanagement.

Public Access to Information:

- Require local governments to publish information on budgets, development plans, and service performance metrics.
- Develop digital platforms where citizens can access municipal data, file grievances, and track project progress.

Anti-Corruption Measures:

Implement codes of ethics for local officials.

• Establish anti-corruption bodies at the municipal level to investigate complaints and enforce penalties for misconduct.

3. Citizen Engagement and Participation

- Participatory Planning:
- Organize town hall meetings, public consultations, and participatory budgeting sessions to involve citizens in decision-making processes.
- Create mechanisms for marginalized groups, such as women, youth, and minorities, to have a voice in governance.
 - Feedback Mechanisms:
- Establish grievance redress systems where citizens can report issues with service delivery or governance.
- Use surveys and citizen report cards to measure public satisfaction with municipal services.
 - Community-Based Monitoring:
- Empower local civil society organizations (CSOs) and community groups to monitor municipal projects and expenditures.

4. Capacity Building for Local Authorities

- Training and Development:
- Provide regular training for municipal staff and elected officials on governance, public financial management, service delivery, and conflict resolution.
 - Technical Assistance:
- Offer support from central or regional governments to help municipalities implement policies and projects effectively.
 - Human Resource Development:
- Hire qualified personnel for technical and administrative roles, ensuring professionalism and competence in service delivery.

5. Financial Autonomy and Sustainability

Revenue Generation:

- Allow local governments to generate their own revenue through property taxes, business licenses, and service fees.
- Encourage public-private partnerships (PPPs) to finance local development projects.

Equitable Resource Distribution:

• Establish equalization mechanisms to ensure financially weaker municipalities receive adequate funding from the central government.

Budget Oversight:

• Mandate local councils to review and approve budgets while ensuring public input is considered.

6. Performance Monitoring and Evaluation

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs):

• Develop clear metrics to evaluate the performance of local governments in areas such as service delivery, financial management, and citizen satisfaction.

Regular Assessments:

• Conduct regular assessments by independent institutions or central government bodies to measure progress and identify gaps.

Incentives for Good Performance:

• Provide financial or technical rewards to municipalities that demonstrate exceptional governance, innovation, or service delivery.

7. Intergovernmental Coordination

Collaborative Frameworks:

• Create mechanisms for cooperation between municipalities, central government agencies, and regional councils to address cross-jurisdictional issues.

Capacity Sharing:

• Allow municipalities to pool resources for large-scale infrastructure projects or regional service delivery initiatives.

Crisis Management:

• Establish protocols for collaboration during emergencies, such as natural disasters or economic crises, ensuring a coordinated response.

8. Promoting Inclusiveness and Equity

• Focus on Marginalized Communities:

• Ensure that municipal policies and services address the needs of vulnerable groups, such as rural populations, refugees, and economically disadvantaged communities.

Gender Equality:

• Promote women's participation in local governance through quotas or leadership programs.

Balanced Development:

• Avoid regional inequalities by prioritizing investment in underserved areas, ensuring fair distribution of resources and services.

9. Adoption of Technology and E-Governance

• Digital Platforms:

• Use technology to streamline service delivery, such as online applications for permits, tax payments, and service requests.

Data-Driven Decision-Making:

• Employ Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and other data tools for urban planning, resource allocation, and monitoring.

Transparency Tools:

• Implement open data initiatives where municipal records and budgets are publicly accessible online.

10. Fostering a Culture of Good Governance

Ethical Leadership:

• Promote a culture of integrity and accountability among municipal leaders through ethics training and awareness campaigns.

Citizen Education:

• Raise awareness about citizens' rights and responsibilities under a decentralized system, empowering them to hold local officials accountable.

Collaborative Culture:

• Foster trust between citizens, local officials, and central authorities through regular dialogue and cooperative governance practices.

Conclusion

Good governance in a decentralized local government system can be achieved by empowering municipalities with the necessary autonomy, resources, and skills while ensuring accountability, transparency, and public participation. A system that prioritizes inclusiveness, efficiency, and collaboration between stakeholders will lead to better outcomes for local communities and enhance trust in governance.

Plan for a Performance Evaluation System in Lebanon's Public Sector

To modernize and improve the performance of Lebanon's public sector, a robust performance evaluation system is critical. Below is a detailed plan outlining the key components, processes, and strategies to implement such a system.

I. Objectives of the Performance Evaluation System

- **1. Accountability:** Ensure that public servants are held responsible for their actions, decisions, and results.
- **2. Efficiency**: Enhance the productivity and resource utilization of public sector institutions.
- **3. Transparency**: Establish a measurable and open process for evaluating public sector performance.
- **4. Service Delivery Improvement**: Align performance metrics with improved delivery of services to citizens.
- **5. Capacity Building**: Identify skill gaps and provide training for better individual and institutional performance.

II. Key Components of the Performance Evaluation System

1. Performance Standards and Indicators

• Define clear and measurable Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for each ministry, department, and public institution.

Example KPIs:

- Time taken to issue permits or documents.
- Number of citizens served within a given period.
- Financial efficiency in managing budgets.

 KPIs should be SMART: Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, and Time-bound.

2. Evaluation Framework

- Institutional Level: Assess the performance of institutions based on their mandates, policies, and service delivery.
- Individual Level: Evaluate employees based on job descriptions, performance goals, and behavioral attributes such as teamwork and initiative.

3. Performance Review Cycle

• Conduct evaluations at regular intervals (e.g., quarterly, biannually, annually) to monitor progress and adjust goals as needed.

4. Feedback Mechanism

- Establish a two-way feedback process:
- Managers provide feedback on employee and institutional performance.
- Employees provide feedback on organizational challenges and opportunities for improvement.

5. Citizen Input

• Collect feedback from citizens regarding the quality of public services through surveys, complaint systems, or citizen report cards.

6. Technology Integration

• Implement an e-Government Portal to digitize the performance evaluation process, track progress, and generate real-time reports.

7. Rewards and Corrective Action

• Introduce a performance-based incentive system to reward highperforming individuals and institutions. • Develop a system for corrective action plans to address underperformance.

III. Steps for Implementing the System

Step 1: Establish a Legal and Institutional Framework

- Pass legislation mandating performance evaluation for all public sector employees and institutions.
- Establish a centralized Performance Evaluation Office under the Ministry of Administrative Reform to oversee implementation and monitoring.

Step 2: Define Roles and Responsibilities

- Central Government:
- Provide guidelines for performance standards and oversee implementation.
 - Offer financial and technical support for the system's rollout.
 - Line Ministries and Municipalities:
 - Tailor performance metrics to local needs and functions.
 - Assign evaluation responsibilities to designated officials.
 - Employees:
 - Set individual performance goals aligned with institutional objectives.

Step 3: Develop KPIs and Benchmarks

- Conduct workshops with stakeholders, including government officials, employees, and civil society, to identify appropriate KPIs.
- Benchmark performance standards against successful international models.

Step 4: Capacity Building

- Train managers and staff on evaluation methods, performance management tools, and the importance of accountability.
- Provide ongoing support through workshops, mentoring, and e-learning platforms.

Step 5: Pilot the System

- Start with a pilot program in select ministries and municipalities to test the framework, tools, and processes.
 - Gather feedback and refine the system before scaling up nationally.

Step 6: Roll Out the System Nationwide

- Implement the system across all public sector entities, ensuring uniform standards and tools.
 - Use digital platforms to streamline data collection and reporting.

Step 7: Monitor, Evaluate, and Adapt

- Continuously monitor the system's effectiveness and gather data for annual reviews.
- Adjust KPIs and processes based on emerging challenges and lessons learned.

IV. Obstacles and Solutions

Obstacle 1: Resistance to Change

• Solution: Raise awareness about the benefits of the system through targeted campaigns and workshops. Secure buy-in from senior leaders and key stakeholders.

Obstacle 2: Lack of Resources

• Solution: Leverage international partnerships for funding and technical assistance. Implement cost-effective digital solutions for data collection and analysis.

Obstacle 3: Skill Gaps

• Solution: Offer specialized training for employees on performance evaluation techniques and tools.

Obstacle 4: Political Interference

• Solution: Establish an independent oversight body to ensure impartiality in evaluations and decision-making.

Obstacle 5: Lack of Citizen Trust

• Solution: Involve citizens in the evaluation process and provide regular updates on performance improvements through transparent reporting.

V. Benefits of the Performance Evaluation System

- 1. Improved Public Service Delivery:
- Ensures that services meet citizen expectations in terms of quality and efficiency.
 - 2. Increased Accountability:
- Public sector employees and institutions are held accountable for achieving results.
 - 3. Enhanced Resource Allocation:
- Enables data-driven decision-making to allocate resources where they are most needed.

4. Motivated Workforce:

Performance-based rewards create incentives for employees to excel.

5. Stronger Citizen Trust:

• Transparent reporting and improved services build trust in government institutions.

VI. Conclusion

A performance evaluation system for Lebanon's public sector is a critical step toward building efficient, transparent, and accountable governance. By setting clear goals, engaging stakeholders, and leveraging technology, Lebanon can enhance public sector performance and restore citizen confidence in state institutions.

Development of a Comprehensive KPI System for Lebanon's Public Sector

A comprehensive Key Performance Indicator (KPI) system in Lebanon's public sector can serve as a tool to improve accountability, efficiency, and service delivery. Below is a detailed plan for the design, development, and implementation of such a system.

I. Objectives of the KPI System

- 1. Improve Public Service Delivery: Measure and improve the quality, efficiency, and responsiveness of public services.
- 2. Enhance Accountability: Establish a transparent mechanism for monitoring the performance of institutions and individuals.
- 3. Support Decision-Making: Provide data-driven insights for policy formulation, resource allocation, and administrative reforms.
- 4. Promote Citizen Trust: Demonstrate commitment to transparency and performance by sharing measurable results with the public.

II. Key Components of the KPI System

1. KPI Framework

- Develop a framework that defines performance across three levels:
- Institutional KPIs: Focus on the overall performance of public entities, such as ministries and municipalities.
- Operational KPIs: Measure the efficiency and effectiveness of specific functions or departments.
- Individual KPIs: Evaluate employee performance against job responsibilities and goals.

2. Categories of KPIs

- Service Delivery:
- Time taken to process requests (e.g., permits, licenses).
- Percentage of satisfied service users.
- Efficiency:
- Cost per unit of service delivered.
- Resource utilization rates (e.g., budget, staff).
- Accountability:
- Adherence to deadlines.
- Number of complaints resolved within a set time frame.
- Policy Outcomes:
- Reduction in unemployment rates.
- Increase in literacy or healthcare access.
- Environmental Sustainability:
- Reduction in carbon emissions.
- Waste management efficiency.
- Public Engagement:
- Frequency of public consultations.
- Citizen participation in decision-making.

3. Data Collection Mechanisms

- Use digital platforms, surveys, citizen feedback, and government records to gather performance data.
 - Implement real-time monitoring tools to track progress on key metrics.

4. Reporting Structure

Develop dashboards for internal monitoring and public reporting.

• Reports should highlight successes, identify gaps, and recommend improvements.

III. Steps to Develop and Implement the KPI System

Step 1: Establish Legal and Institutional Framework

- Enact legislation mandating performance monitoring and KPI reporting for public sector entities.
- Create a Centralized Performance Monitoring Unit under the Ministry of Administrative Development to oversee implementation.

Step 2: Define Sector-Specific KPIs

- Collaborate with stakeholders to tailor KPIs to the unique needs of each sector, such as education, healthcare, transportation, and energy.
 - Align KPIs with national development goals and international benchmarks.

Step 3: Stakeholder Engagement

- Involve key stakeholders, including government officials, employees, civil society, and international partners, in the development process.
 - Conduct workshops and consultations to ensure buy-in and relevance.

Step 4: Develop Data Collection and Reporting Systems

- Implement digital tools to automate data collection and ensure accuracy.
- Use Geographic Information Systems (GIS) and dashboards to visualize performance data for decision-makers and the public.

Step 5: Capacity Building

- Train public sector employees and officials on KPI development, monitoring, and reporting.
 - Provide technical support for data analysis and interpretation.

Step 6: Pilot Testing

- Roll out the KPI system in a few pilot ministries and municipalities to test its effectiveness.
 - Gather feedback, identify challenges, and make necessary adjustments.

Step 7: Nationwide Implementation

• Scale up the system to cover all public sector entities, ensuring consistency in tools, methods, and reporting standards.

Step 8: Monitoring and Evaluation

- Establish a continuous monitoring and evaluation (M&E) process to assess the system's effectiveness.
 - Regularly update KPIs to adapt to evolving priorities and challenges.

IV. Challenges and Solutions

Challenge 1: Resistance to Change

• Solution: Conduct awareness campaigns highlighting the benefits of the KPI system for transparency and efficiency.

Challenge 2: Lack of Capacity

• Solution: Offer training programs and technical assistance to public sector employees.

Challenge 3: Data Availability

• Solution: Invest in digital infrastructure and data management systems to ensure accurate and timely data collection.

Challenge 4: Political Interference

• Solution: Establish an independent oversight body to ensure impartiality in KPI monitoring and reporting.

Challenge 5: Funding Constraints

• Solution: Leverage international donor support and public-private partnerships to fund system development.

V. Expected Benefits

1. Enhanced Accountability:

• Clear performance metrics will hold public officials and institutions accountable for their results.

2. Improved Efficiency:

KPIs will help identify inefficiencies and optimize resource allocation.

3. Data-Driven Governance:

• Decision-makers will have access to reliable data for informed policymaking.

4. Better Service Delivery:

• Regular monitoring will ensure services are delivered on time and at a high standard.

5. Increased Public Trust:

• Transparent reporting of performance results will boost citizen confidence in government institutions.

VI. Example KPIs for Key Sectors

Healthcare

- Patient waiting time in government hospitals.
- Availability of essential medicines.

Infant mortality rate reduction.

Education

- Student-teacher ratio in public schools.
- Percentage of students achieving passing grades.
- School attendance rates.

Municipal Services

- Time to issue construction permits.
- Percentage of waste collected and recycled.
- Number of public complaints resolved.

Transportation

- Average commute times.
- Frequency and punctuality of public transport.
- Road maintenance completion rates.

Energy

- Reduction in electricity outages.
- Percentage of energy generated from renewable sources.
- Efficiency in bill collection.

VII. Conclusion

Developing a comprehensive KPI system for Lebanon's public sector is a transformative step toward better governance, accountability, and service delivery. By aligning performance metrics with national priorities and leveraging digital tools, the system can enhance efficiency, restore public trust, and drive sustainable development.

Collaboration, capacity building, and continuous monitoring will be essential for its success.

Comprehensive Plan for Recruitment and Job Descriptions in Lebanon's Public Sector

A structured, transparent, and merit-based recruitment system, coupled with clear and effective job descriptions, is essential for enhancing the performance and accountability of Lebanon's public sector. Below is an expanded framework detailing the recruitment strategy, job descriptions, evaluation mechanisms, and supporting processes.

I. Importance of Reforming Public Sector Recruitment and Job Descriptions

Reforming recruitment processes and job descriptions is key to addressing chronic inefficiencies, reducing corruption, and improving public service delivery in Lebanon. A robust system ensures:

- Meritocracy: Only the most qualified candidates are appointed.
- **Efficiency:** Clear job roles reduce overlaps, redundancies, and delays.
- **Equity:** Fair recruitment ensures diversity and inclusion in the workforce.
- **Trust:** Transparency in hiring rebuilds confidence in public institutions.

II. Principles of Recruitment in Lebanon's Public Sector

1. Merit-Based Selection:

• Ensure all appointments are based on qualifications, experience, and performance rather than political or sectarian affiliations.

2. Inclusivity:

• Provide equal opportunities for all genders, regions, and socio-economic backgrounds, reflecting Lebanon's diversity.

3. Transparency:

• Advertise vacancies widely, use standardized recruitment processes, and publish results.

4. Alignment with National Goals:

• Recruit staff with the skills needed to implement Lebanon's development plans, such as expertise in digitalization, sustainability, and crisis management.

5. Continuous Improvement:

• Regularly review recruitment practices to adapt to changing needs and global best practices.

III. Comprehensive Recruitment Process

1. Workforce Planning

- Conduct sector-wide audits to identify current staff levels, skill gaps, and future needs.
- Forecast retirement trends and plan for succession to avoid disruption in service delivery.
- Align workforce needs with national priorities, such as digital transformation or environmental sustainability.

2. Centralized Recruitment Body

- Establish or reform a central authority (e.g., a Civil Service Commission) to oversee recruitment across ministries and municipalities.
- Develop a unified recruitment portal for advertising jobs, receiving applications, and publishing results.

3. Standardized Recruitment Procedures

- Job Announcements:
- Publish detailed vacancy notices specifying roles, responsibilities, qualifications, salary, and application deadlines.
 - Application Process:
- Use online systems to accept applications, ensuring accessibility and efficiency.

- Testing and Evaluation:
- Design standardized written tests and technical assessments for specific roles.
 - Interviews:
- Conduct structured interviews with standardized questions to ensure fairness.
 - Background Checks:
 - Verify educational qualifications, professional credentials, and references.
 - Selection:
- Rank candidates based on merit and publish results for public transparency.

4. Recruitment for Specialized Roles

- For technical or specialized positions (e.g., IT experts, environmental engineers, policy analysts), use sector-specific recruitment processes.
- Establish partnerships with universities and professional organizations to attract top talent.

5. Onboarding and Orientation

- Provide new hires with an orientation program covering public sector ethics, institutional culture, job-specific responsibilities, and career development opportunities.
 - Assign mentors to guide new employees during their probationary period.

IV. Detailed Job Descriptions

1. Executive-Level Positions

- Minister:
- **Responsibilities**: Develop policies, manage budgets, and oversee ministry operations.

- **Qualifications**: Advanced degree (e.g., in public policy or law), leadership experience, and expertise in the ministry's domain.
 - Director-General:
- Responsibilities: Implement ministry policies, coordinate between departments, and manage resources.
- Qualifications: Master's degree, 10+ years of administrative experience, strong leadership skills.

2. Mid-Level Management

- **Department** Head:
- **Responsibilities**: Supervise departmental activities, ensure adherence to policies, and manage staff.
- **Qualifications**: Bachelor's degree, 5+ years of experience, and management skills.
 - Regional Manager:
- **Responsibilities**: Oversee service delivery in specific regions, manage field offices, and liaise with central offices.
- **Qualifications**: Bachelor's degree, experience in operations management.

3. Local Government Positions

- Mayor:
- **Responsibilities**: Manage municipal operations, represent the municipality, and engage with citizens.
- **Qualifications**: Leadership experience and knowledge of local governance.
 - Municipal Council Member:
- **Responsibilities**: Approve local budgets, monitor projects, and represent community interests.
- **Qualifications**: Understanding of municipal laws and community development.

4. Operational Staff

- Public Service Officer:
- **Responsibilities**: Deliver frontline services, handle citizen complaints, and issue permits.
 - Qualifications: High school diploma or relevant training.
 - Technical Specialist:
- **Responsibilities**: Provide expertise in IT, finance, or engineering for public sector projects.
 - Qualifications: Bachelor's degree and relevant professional certification.

5. Administrative Support

- Administrative Assistant:
- **Responsibilities**: Handle clerical tasks, manage schedules, and maintain records.
 - Qualifications: High school diploma, office software proficiency.
 - Procurement Officer:
- **Responsibilities**: Manage public sector purchases, ensure compliance with procurement laws.
- **Qualifications**: Bachelor's degree in business administration or procurement.

V. Career Development and Retention Strategies

1. Continuous Training:

• Establish a National Institute for Public Administration to provide ongoing professional development.

2. Performance-Based Promotions:

Tie career advancement to measurable performance metrics.

3. Succession Planning:

• Identify high-potential employees and groom them for leadership roles.

4. Incentives and Benefits:

• Offer competitive salaries, pensions, and benefits to attract and retain talent.

VI. Monitoring and Evaluation

1. Key Metrics for Recruitment:

- Average time to fill vacancies.
- Percentage of roles filled based on merit.
- Diversity of hires (gender, region, etc.).

2. Auditing Mechanisms:

• Conduct regular audits of recruitment processes to ensure compliance with meritocracy and transparency principles.

3. Citizen Feedback:

• Use citizen surveys to evaluate public satisfaction with services delivered by new hires.

VII. Challenges and Solutions

Challenge 1: Political Interference

• Solution: Establish an independent oversight body to ensure fair recruitment.

Challenge 2: Skills Gap

• Solution: Invest in partnerships with universities to align educational programs with public sector needs.

Challenge 3: Corruption

• Solution: Implement strict penalties for nepotism and favoritism in recruitment processes.

Challenge 4: Retention Issues

• Solution: Provide clear career paths, competitive compensation, and professional development opportunities.

VIII. Conclusion

Reforming Lebanon's public sector recruitment and job descriptions is a cornerstone for effective governance and improved service delivery. By implementing a merit-based, transparent, and efficient system, the government can build a capable workforce to address Lebanon's challenges and restore public trust.

Concluding Remarks

Decentralization is not a threat to Lebanon's unity; rather, it is a vital tool to address the country's long-standing governance, economic, and social challenges. It aligns with the principles of the Taif Agreement and offers a practical solution to Lebanon's systemic inefficiencies, regional inequalities, and deepening public mistrust in state institutions. By empowering local governments, decentralization strengthens the connection between citizens and the state, promotes balanced development, and fosters accountability.

The fear that decentralization could lead to federalism or separation is unfounded. Unlike federalism, decentralization operates within a unitary framework where the central government retains sovereignty. It enhances service delivery and governance without fragmenting the state. International examples from countries like Jordan, and Tunisia demonstrate that decentralization can be implemented successfully without compromising national unity.

Decentralization provides a unique opportunity to modernize Lebanon's governance structure, restore trust in public institutions, and create a sustainable, inclusive system that serves the needs of all citizens. However, its success depends on political will, legal reform, robust institutions, and active citizen participation.

Recommendations

To ensure the successful implementation of decentralization in Lebanon, the following steps are recommended:

1. Build Political and Public Consensus

- Organize national dialogues to engage political parties, civil society, and religious leaders, addressing fears of federalism and building trust in the process.
- Conduct public awareness campaigns to educate citizens about the benefits of decentralization.

2. Enact a Comprehensive Decentralization Law

- Pass legislation clearly defining the roles, responsibilities, and financial powers of local governments.
- Establish safeguards to prevent overreach, mismanagement, or exploitation of decentralized powers.

3. Strengthen Local Government Capacities

- Invest in training and capacity-building programs for municipal and regional officials to ensure effective governance.
- Provide technical and financial support to underdeveloped regions to prevent widening disparities.

4. Ensure Financial Decentralization

- Develop a transparent system of resource allocation, allowing local governments to generate and manage their own revenues.
- Create an equalization fund to support marginalized areas and ensure regional equity.

5. Implement Pilot Projects

- Launch decentralization pilot programs in diverse regions to test and refine the framework before nationwide implementation.
 - Evaluate the results to identify challenges and solutions.

6. Establish Oversight and Accountability Mechanisms

- Set up a national decentralization commission to monitor progress, resolve disputes, and ensure compliance with national laws.
 - Introduce e-governance platforms to promote transparency and efficiency.

7. Align with National Development Goals

• Integrate decentralization into Lebanon's broader development strategy to ensure that it addresses pressing issues like unemployment, poverty, and infrastructure gaps.

8. Learn from International Best Practices

- Study successful decentralization models in unitary states and adapt them to Lebanon's unique context.
- Partner with international organizations for technical assistance and financial support.

9. Encourage Citizen Participation

- Institutionalize participatory mechanisms, such as public consultations and participatory budgeting, to involve citizens in decision-making.
- Promote civic education to empower communities to hold local governments accountable.

10. Commit to Long-Term Reform

• Treat decentralization as an ongoing process rather than a one-time reform. Regularly evaluate and adapt the system to meet changing needs and challenges.

Final Thought

Decentralization is not just a governance reform; it is a path to a more inclusive, efficient, and equitable Lebanon. By empowering local communities and addressing regional disparities, Lebanon can overcome the inefficiencies of centralization and unlock its full potential. With careful planning, transparent implementation, and the commitment of all stakeholders, decentralization will strengthen national unity and lay the foundation for a prosperous future.

END OF THE DOCUMENT